IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA;

CASE NO. 90,002

ROBERT IRA PEEDE,

Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CHRIS DeBOCK
ASSISTANT CCRC-MIDDLE
FLORIDA BAR NO: 254657
OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL
405 NORTH REO STREET
SUITE 150
TAMPA, FL 33609-1004
(813) 871-7900

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Peede was indicted by a grand jury for first-degree murder on March 31, 1983. After pleading not guilty, Mr. Peede was tried by a jury on February 13, 1984. Penalty phase was conducted March 5, 1984. Sentencing was conducted on March 5, 1984, (R. 920), but the court did not enter a written sentencing order until March 21, 1984 (R. 1263).

Mr. Peede unsuccessfully appealed his conviction and sentence, <u>Peede v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1985). A death warrant was signed on May 6, 1988. Mr. Peede filed a Rule 3.850 motion on June 6, 1988. The State filed a response to Mr. Peede's motion, conceding the need for an evidentiary hearing on Claims I, II, III, VI, VIII and IX (R. 625). On June 24, 1988, the circuit court entered a stay of execution and thereafter scheduled four days for an evidentiary on Mr. Peede's motion (R. 227). On February 20, 1995, Mr. Peede filed an amended motion for postconviction relief. On June 21, 1996, the circuit court entered an order denying Mr. Peede's June 22, 1988 motion for postconviction relief in its entirety without ever holding an evidentiary hearing.¹ Mr. Peede now appeals that summary denial.

¹No order was entered regarding Mr. Peede's February 20, 1995 amended motion. However, the circuit court's order referred to allegations raised in the amended motion.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court erred in denying Mr. Peede's Motion. The files and records did not conclusively show that Mr. Peede was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing. As a matter of fact, the State in its pleading, had conceded to hold evidentiary hearing on several of the claims that was summarily denied by the lower court. Moreover, the law strongly favors evidentiary hearings in death penalty postconviction cases, especially where a claim is grounded in factual as opposed to legal matters. Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1076, 1069 (Fla. 1988). Furthermore, the lower court's ruling does not incorporate the six additional claims filed in the amended Motion to Vacate, and as a result six claims were not ruled on by the lower court.

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY DENYING MR. PEEDE'S RULE 3.850 MOTION WITHOUT GRANTING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING AND WITHOUT ATTACHING RECORDS ESTABLISHING MR. PEEDE WAS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF, THUS DENYING MR. PEEDE OF THE RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS UNDER THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS.

The law strongly favors full evidentiary hearings in death penalty postconviction cases, especially where a claim is grounded in factual as opposed to legal matters. Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1076, 1069 (Fla. 1988); see also LeDuc v. State, 415 So.2d 721, 722 (Fla. 1982). In Mr. Peede's case, the State conceded the need for an evidentiary hearing and the lower court granted such a hearing. Subsequently, the lower court summarily denied Mr. Peede's Rule 3.850 motion without ever holding such a hearing and without attaching relevant portions of the record to the order. The lower court committed reversible error and this Court should remand Mr. Peede's case for an evidentiary hearing. Holland v. State, 503 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1987); Hoffman v. State, 571 So.2d 449 (Fla. 1990).

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ABROGATED MR. PEEDE'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS BY SUMMARILY DENYING HIS MOTION TO VACATE AFTER BOTH THE STATE AND THE COURT CONCEDED AN EVIDENTIARY WAS WARRANTED, A HEARING HAD BEEN SCHEDULED AND THE DEFENSE HAD TAKEN SUBSTANTIAL STEPS TOWARDS CONDUCTING THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

On June 6, 1988, while a death warrant was pending, Mr. Peede filed an emergency motion for postconviction relief with request for leave to amend, a request for stay of execution and a request for evidentiary hearing (R. 200). The State thereafter conceded that an evidentiary was required with respect to Claims I, II, III, VI, VIII and IX (R. 625). On June

24, 1988, the lower court granted a stay of execution and thereafter scheduled a four day evidentiary hearing (R. 227). In accordance with an order from the lower court, (R. 236), Mr. Peede filed a list with the names of over 79 potential witnesses to support his claims at the hearing (R. 239).

On February 20, 1995, Mr. Peede filed an amended motion for postconviction relief (R. 448). On March 10, 1996, the State filed a motion to strike Mr. Peede's February 20, 1995 amendment (R.625). On March 10, 1995, a hearing was held regarding Mr. Peede's request to amend and the State's motion to strike. Pursuant to the lower court's order, the State submitted a memorandum of law which conceded the need for an evidentiary hearing on Claims I, II, III, and V (R.625, 626).

On June 21, 1996, the lower court entered an order denying Mr. Peede's June 22, 1988 Motion for Postconviction Relief without holding an evidentiary hearing. No order was entered regarding Mr. Peede's February 20, 1995 amended motion.² However, the lower court's order mentions allegations raised in the amended motion.

In summarily denying Mr. Peede's Rule 3.850 motion, the lower court committed reversible error and this Court should remand Mr. Peede's case for an evidentiary hearing. In Mr. Peede's case, both the State and the Court conceded the need for an evidentiary hearing. "The need for an evidentiary hearing presupposes that there are issues of fact which cannot be conclusively resolved by the record. When a determination has been made that a defendant is entitled to such an evidentiary hearing (as in this case), denial of

²The amended motion contained six additional claims in addition to amending the existing claims.

that right would constitute denial of all due process and could never be harmless." Holland v. State, 503 So.2d 1250, 1252-53 (Fla. 1987). In addition, once the court conferred upon Mr. Peede the right to an evidentiary hearing, the denial of that opportunity abrogated his right to due process. Postconviction litigation is governed by principles of due process. Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993); Easter v. Endell, 37 F.3d 1343 (8th Cir. 1994); Holland v. State, 503 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1987). Moreover, as there is no right to general discovery in postconviction litigation, Mr. Peede acted to his detriment when, pursuant to court order, a list of 79 potential witnesses to be called at the evidentiary hearing was disclosed to the state. Thus, remand for an evidentiary hearing is more than appropriate.

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S FAILURE TO ATTACH TO ITS ORDER THOSE PORTIONS OF THE RECORD WHICH CONCLUSIVELY DEMONSTRATE THAT MR. PEEDE IS ENTITLED TO NO RELIEF IS REVERSIBLE ERROR.

A trial court has only two options when presented with an initial Rule 3.850 motion: either grant an evidentiary hearing, or alternatively, attach to any order denying relief adequate portions of the record affirmatively demonstrating that appellant is not entitled to relief on the claims asserted. Witherspoon v. State, 590 So.2d 1138 (4th DCA 1992); see also Roberts v. State, 678 So.2d 1232, 1236 (Fla. 1996); Brown v. State, 596 So.2d 1026, 1028 (Fla. 1992); Hoffman v. State, 571 So.2d 449, 450 (Fla. 1990); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(d). In Mr. Peede's case, the trial court chose a course of action which does not constitute a permissible option under Rule 3.850. The court granted and scheduled an evidentiary hearing and then proceeded to summarily deny the motion without holding a hearing and without attaching specific portions to the order.

Upon summary denial of a Rule 3.850 motion, Rule 3.850(d) requires the circuit

court to attach portions of the record conclusively establishing that appellant is not entitled to relief. In Mr. Peede's case, the circuit court failed to attach portions of the record to its order which summarily denied the Rule 3.850 motion. Instead, the court, in effect, attached the entire record. The order issued by the lower court states that, pursuant to Anderson v. State, 627 So.2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993), "voluminous copies from the record" are attached as "Attachment A" (R. 632). However, Mr. Peede was not served with a copy of this attachment (R. 632). A review of the transcript page numbers referred to in "Attachment A" reveals that the lower court essentially attached the entire record. This Court has deemed this practice "meaningless and improper." Hoffman v. State, 571 So.2d 449 (Fla. 1990)(reversal and remand required where circuit court failed to attach portions of the record to its order summarily denying the defendant's Rule 3.850 motion); see also Lemon v. State, 498 So.2d 923 (Fla. 1986). Thus, because the circuit court ignored the procedures mandated by Rule 3.850 and failed to attach portions of the record conclusively showing summary denial to be appropriate, this Court cannot engage in an adequate review of the lower court's decision.

Mr. Peede pled substantial, serious allegations that go to the fundamental fairness of his death sentence. Specific facts were detailed in his motion. Mr. Peede was – and is – entitled in these proceedings to that which due process allows – a full and fair hearing by the court on his claims. Hoffman; Holland v. State. Mr. Peede's due process right to a full and fair hearing was abrogated by the lower court's summary denial, which did not afford proper evidentiary resolution.

The lower court here did not attach to its order the portion of the record that the

court found conclusively showed that Mr. Peede was not entitled to relief. The record does not conclusively establish that Mr. Peede is entitled to no relief. Accordingly, this Court should reverse and remand for a full and fair evidentiary hearing as required by Rule 3.850.

ARGUMENT II

FILES AND RECORDS PERTAINING TO MR. PEEDE'S CASE IN THE POSSESSION OF CERTAIN STATE AGENCIES HAVE BEEN WITHHELD IN VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 119 AND 845, FLA. STAT., THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION. MR. PEEDE COULD NOT FULLY PREPARE AN ADEQUATE 3.850 MOTION.

Mr. Peede is entitled to Chapter 119 compliance and the trial court erred in dismissing many of Mr. Peede's claims without allowing him to amend his Rule 3.850 motion after obtaining all public records. The trial court erred in failing to grant Mr. Peede the opportunity to obtain the public records he has not received, to litigate his public records claims, and subsequently further amend his claims for postconviction relief after full disclosure of requested public records.

Mr. Peede has never received public records compliance pursuant to Chapter 1119 to which he is clearly entitled. See Ventura v. State, 673 So.2d 479 (Fla. 1996); Walton v. Dugger, 634 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1993); Muehleman v. Dugger, 634 So.2d 480 (Fla. 1993); Anderson v. State, 627 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1993); Mendyk v. State, 592 So.2d 1076 (Fla. 1992); State v. Kokal, 562 So.2d 324 (Fla. 1990); Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1990). This Court has ruled that collateral counsel must obtain every public record in existence regarding a capital case or else a procedural default will be assessed against the defendant. Porter v. State, 653 So.2d 375 (Fla. 1995). However, a concomitant obligation

under relevant case law as well as Chapter 119 rests with the State to furnish the requested materials. Ventura v. State, 673 So.2d 479 (Fla. 1996). When the State's inaction in failing to disclose public records results in a capital postconviction litigant's inability to fully plead claims for relief, the State is estopped from claiming that the postconviction motion should be denied or dismissed. Id. Without full public records disclosure, Mr. Peede cannot file a complete Rule 3.850 motion. Id.; Anderson v. State, 627 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1993). As such, Mr. Peede is denied effective legal representation. Spaziano v. State, 660 So.2d 1363 (Fla. 1995); Spalding v. Dugger, 526 So.2d 71 (Fla. 1988).

ARGUMENT III

MR. PEEDE'S FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS WERE ABROGATED BECAUSE HE WAS AND HAS BEEN FORCED TO UNDERGO CRIMINAL JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS ALTHOUGH HE WAS NOT LEGALLY COMPETENT.

A defendant must be competent at the time of his trial; otherwise, his conviction violates due process. <u>Bishop v. United States</u>, 350 U.S. 961 (1956); <u>Dusky v. United States</u>, 362 U.S. 402 (1960). If doubt exists as to a defendant's competency, the court must hold a hearing. <u>Pate v. Robinson</u>, 383 U.S. 375 (1966); <u>James v. Singletary</u>, 957 F.2d 1562 (11th Cir. 1992) Similarly, if a question arises during trial as to a defendant's competency, due process requires the court to conduct a hearing. <u>Drope v. Missouri</u>, 420 U.S. 162 (1975). Due process also requires that that hearing comport with constitutional standards. <u>Pate James</u>.

A claim that a defendant was incompetent at the time of the trial can be proven by the subsequent presentation of collateral evidence as to actual incompetency. <u>Nathaniel v.</u>

Estelle, 493 F.2d 794, 796-97 (5th Cir. 1974). It is insufficient that a defendant is aware of the ongoing legal proceedings at the time of trial; rather, he must also have a "rational understanding" of the proceedings. <u>Lafferty v. Cook</u>, 949 F.2d 1546 (10th Cir. 1991) <u>cert.</u> denied, 112 S. Ct. 1942 (1992).

Where a Rule 3.850 litigant presents a claim contending that he was incompetent to stand trial and proffering extra-record information alleging with specificity the nature of the mental health evidence that went undiscovered, an evidentiary hearing is required. Mason v. State, 489 So. 2d 734, 735-37 (Fla. 1986) ("we must remand for a hearing on whether or not the examining psychiatrists would have reached the same conclusion as to competency had they been fully aware of Mason's history"). Additionally, where a litigant presents properly pled claims demonstrating that the mental health evaluations conducted at the time of trial was professionally inadequate, an evidentiary hearing and Rule 3.850 relief are appropriate. See State v. Sireci, 502 So. 2d 1221, 1224 (Fla. 1987); cf. Mason, 489 So. 2d at 735-37.

It was incumbent upon trial counsel to alert the lower court to the possibility that his client was not competent to be tried. Counsel's duty is continuing, so that if indicia of mental impairment arise during the representation, counsel must bring the matter to the court's attention and request a competency evaluation and a competency hearing. Counsel failed to do either in this case, despite evidence of Mr. Peede's mental impairments.

At the time of his 1984 trial, he was plagued by his longstanding mental disorders. He was plagued by delusions, paranoia, schizophrenia, severe depression, and diminished emotional functioning, and he was psychotic. There were indicia that Mr. Peede was

incompetent throughout the period leading up to his trial. Mr. Peede's inability to communicate and confer with counsel in any meaningful way should have put the court on notice that competency was an issue. Dusky v. United State, 362 U.S. 402 (1960); c.f. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.211(a)(1) (1996). His behavior was at best, bizarre: Robert Peede stood trial in jail clothes and with a paper clip through one of his ears — he refused to wear the suit his lawyers had provided, demanding instead to appear, shackled, in his jail clothes (R. 1207, 1209). On trial for his life, he walked out of court on a number of occasions, finally refusing to return. He attempted suicide by cutting himself with a razor after his arrest. His history is, in fact, one of severe self-mutilation. At trial, his attorneys described him as appearing ill, his face "pasty" and "chalky" (R. 665). They asked to have a doctor see him. Mr. Peede related to the court and counsel that "mentally [he could not] handle it [the trial]." (R. 670). The fact that Robert Peede was mentally ill and lacked the requisite competency to stand trial becomes crystal clear when his odd and bizarre courtroom behavior is reviewed alongside his Orange County Jail records.

Mr. Peede's bizarre and irrational behavior continued throughout the proceedings. He had expressed a desire from the outset to receive the death penalty. Almost immediately after his arrest, he executed and signed a written statement expressing the wish that he be sentenced to death, and that that sentence be carried out as soon as possible (See R. 860, 1064). He attempted suicide shortly thereafter (R. 700).

When his initial requests to simply walk out of his capital trial were denied by the court, Mr. Peede became more adamant, and informed the court that he wanted no part of the proceedings and could not participate in them:

THE COURT: Mr. Peede, we need to talk to you a little bit about the remainder of your trial.

I've talked to your attorneys, in particular, Mr. DuRocher, indicated you are, don't want to participate anymore in the trial in the courtroom. I wanted to make sure this is a voluntary action on your part. And I want to make sure you understand or I understand that you, indeed, do not wish to participate further.

MR. PEEDE: Yes, sir. You know, when I talked to you down in the courtroom I was trying to tell you then I wouldn't be back.

THE COURT: Are you feeling ill? Or is it just a matter you'd rather not be in the trial?

MR. PEEDE: At first I was feeling ill health wise, but, you know, after I had eaten and all, I feel okay health wise; <u>just</u> mentally I can't handle it, I, I just —

THE COURT: Can't handle further participation in the trial you mean?

MR. PEEDE: I don't mean any disrespect to my lawyers or to you or to anybody else.

The whole, you know, the whole thing went against my wishes. And it's just mentally messing with me so bad that I rather not be any part of it. I rather be away from it.

(R. 669-70). The court explained that the proceedings could be continued to allow him time to reconsider (R. 672). Mr. Peede's response to the court's offer is illustrative of the consistent irrationality of his behavior throughout the proceedings.

The remainder of the trial (the majority of the State's case) proceeded in Mr. Peede's absence. He did not reappear until the end of the sentencing proceeding, which he attended in his jail uniform, shackled, and wearing a paper clip in his earlobe. When the jury returned a verdict of death, Mr. Peede expressed his glee; laughing and giving everyone

in the courtroom the "thumbs up" sign, he thanked the jury for their verdict.

The record and non-record facts in Mr. Peede's case conclusively establish that a full and adequate evidentiary hearing on these issues, as in <u>Mason v. State</u>, 489 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986), is necessary in Mr. Peede's case. Thereafter, as in <u>Hill v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, Mr. Peede can undeniably demonstrate his entitlement to Rule 3.850 relief. Reversal is therefore warranted.

ARGUMENT IV

MR. PEEDE WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHTS TO DUE **PROCESS** AND **EQUAL PROTECTION** UNDER FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AS WELL AS HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS, WHEN THE SOLE DEFENSE PSYCHIATRIST RETAINED TO EVALUATE HIM BEFORE TRIAL FAILED TO CONDUCT A PROFESSIONALLY APPROPRIATE EVALUATION. UNDER RECOGNIZED STANDARDS OF CARE, RESULTING IN A TRIAL AT WHICH MR. PEEDE WAS INCOMPETENT AND ENTITLED TO A COMPETENCY HEARING, AND RESULTING IN THE LACK OF FAIR AND RELIABLE CAPITAL GUILT-INNOCENCE AND SENTENCING DETERMINATIONS.

A defendant is entitled to expert psychiatric assistance when the State makes his mental state relevant to guilt-innocence or sentencing. Ake v. Oklahoma, 105 S. Ct. 1087 (1985). What is required is an "adequate psychiatric evaluation of [the defendant's] state of mind." Blake v. Kemp, 758 F.2d 523, 529 (11th Cir. 1985). When mental health is at issue, counsel has a duty to conduct proper investigation into his or her client's mental health background, see, e.g., O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354, 1355 (Fla. 1984), and to assure that the client is not denied a professional and professionally conducted mental health evaluation. See Mason v. State, 489 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986); Mauldin v. Wainwright,

723 F.2d 799 (11th Cir. 1984). The mental health expert also must protect the client's rights, and violates those rights when he or she fails to provide professionally adequate assistance. Mason v. State. The expert also has the responsibility to properly evaluate and consider the client's mental health background. Mason, 489 So. 2d at 736-37.

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