IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT IRA PEEDE,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 90,002

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF RULE 3.850 MOTION THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 327832 Westwood Center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I The trial court issued a comprehensive written order, attached specific portions of the trial record, and stated its rationale for denying postconviction relief based on the record. An evidentiary hearing was not warranted on the 3.850 motion filed in the instant case.

Issue II During the seven years which elapsed between the filing of Peede's original 3.850 motion and his amended motion, Peede did nothing to alert the trial court to any alleged noncompliance with Chapter 119. Peede failed to allege or demonstrate due diligence and timely public records requests. This claim is facially insufficient to merit further review.

Issue III The trial court did not err in summarily denying Peede's postconviction claim that he was incompetent to stand trial. This claim was procedurally barred and, alternatively, insufficiently pled and meritless.

Issue IV The trial court did not err in summarily denying Peede's postconviction claim of ineffective mental health assistance. This claim was procedurally barred and, alternatively, without merit.

Issue V The trial court did not err in summarily denying Peede's postconviction claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Peede failed to establish any deficiency of trial counsel

and resulting prejudice under Strickland.

Issue VI The trial court did not err in summarily denying Peede's postconviction <u>Brady</u> claim. The allegedly withheld evidence was not material as a matter of law.

Issue VII Peede's postconviction challenge to the constitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing statute is procedurally barred.

Issue VIII The trial court did not err in summarily denying postconviction relief on Peede's procedurally barred jury instruction claim.

Issue IX Peede's allegation that the trial court improperly sentenced him to death without considering all nonstatutory mitigating evidence is procedurally barred. Alternatively, this claim is without merit.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENVING PEEDE'S RULE 3.850 MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF WITHOUT CONDUCTING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

The State does not dispute Peede's assertion that the law favors evidentiary hearings in death penalty postconviction cases; and, in this case, the prosecutor conceded an evidentiary hearing relating to the following categories of postconviction complaints: (1) alleged incompetence to stand trial, (2) ineffective assistance of trial counsel, and (3) alleged violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 87 (1963). (R. 207; 625-626). However, it is undeniable that it is the trial court, and not the prosecutor, who determines whether an evidentiary hearing is warranted. <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 636 So. 2d 1309, 1311 n.4 (Fla. 1994).

An evidentiary hearing is only warranted where a defendant alleges specific facts, not conclusively rebutted by the record, which demonstrate a legal basis for postconviction relief. <u>See</u> <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 659 So.2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995) (no hearing warranted on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim where facts did not demonstrate a deficiency in performance that prejudiced the defendant); <u>Jackson v. Dugger</u>, 633 So.2d 1051, 1055 (Fla. 1993); <u>Lopez v. Singletary</u>, 634 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 1993); <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 1255, 1256-1260 (Fla. 1990); <u>Kennedy v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989); <u>Atkins v. Dugger</u>, 541 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1989).

A. <u>State's concession and scheduling of an evidentiary hearing</u>

It is undisputed that the trial court initially scheduled an evidentiary hearing and Peede submitted a witness list containing the names of 79 witnesses who might be called at an evidentiary hearing in 1989. (R. 239-245). However, during the next six years, Peede filed nothing in the trial court to bring this case to disposition. Peede now argues that the trial court abrogated his right to due process by summarily denying his motion to vacate despite the state's concession and the court's initial scheduling of an evidentiary hearing. For the following reasons, this claim must fail.

In denying Peede's 3.850 motion, the trial court determined that summary denial was appropriate, even though the State conceded an evidentiary hearing on various postconviction claims. As the trial court explained,

After reviewing the motion, the State's responses and the record of this case, the court concludes that summary denial of these claims is appropriate, even though the State conceded the need for an evidentiary hearing on certain ineffective assistance of counsel claims. <u>Compare Swafford v. State</u>, 636 So. 2d 1309, 1311 n.4 (Fla. 1994). The record conclusively shows that, even if counsel were ineffective, that ineffectiveness did not prejudice the Defendant as explained below. The remaining claims are either procedurally barred or improperly pled.

In support of this denial, the court has attached voluminous copies from the record in compliance with the dictates of <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 627 So. 2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993). <u>See</u> Attachment "A" including Record pages 1-984, 1238-42, 1251-52, and 1264-65.

(e.s., R. 632-633)

In <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 636 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 1994) the State suggested that an evidentiary hearing might be needed. This Court found that the State's concession was not dispositive of the actual need for an evidentiary hearing because that determination is to be made by the trial court. In the instant case, as in <u>Swafford</u>, the State's concession was not dispositive of the actual need for an evidentiary hearing on the defendant's postconviction claims.

In Alvord v. State, 694 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1997) the trial court entered an order granting an evidentiary hearing to allow the defendant to present nonstatutory mitigating evidence in response to a claim that error occurred under <u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S.Ct. 1821, 95 L.Ed.2d 347 (1987). Before the scheduled evidentiary hearing was held on the Hitchcock claim, Alvord amended postconviction motion to include an additional his claim. Thereafter, the trial court reversed its original ruling by denying an evidentiary hearing and finding the <u>Hitchcock</u> claim to be procedurally barred. On appeal, Alvord contended that the trial judge erred in denying his Rule 3.850 motion without holding an evidentiary hearing. Finding the non-record, nonstatutory evidence Alvord outlined in his postconviction motion to be very similar to that which was previously considered and rejected in a prior habeas petition, this Court affirmed the summary denial of Alvord's motion for postconviction relief. In this case, Peede also alleges that he acted to his detriment in disclosing the names of 79 prospective

witnesses in 1989, however, Peede's speculative conclusion does not credibly provide him with any "entitlement" to an evidentiary hearing. As in <u>Alvord</u>, the trial court did not err in denying postconviction relief without conducting an evidentiary hearing.

B. <u>Records Attachment</u>

Rule 3.850(d) requires a circuit court to attach portions of the record conclusively establishing that a defendant is not entitled to relief. The original record on direct appeal in this case was in excess of 1400 pages, and it included eleven (11) volumes record, consisting of trial transcripts, pleadings, and exhibits. [Peede v. State, Fla.S.Ct. Case No. 62,115] According to Peede, the trial court erred in failing to attach specific portions of the record to the order summarily denying the postconviction motion. Contrary to Peede's claim, the trial court's order specifically identified and attached those portions of the record upon which it relied. As the trial court's order states, in part,

In support of this denial, the court has attached voluminous copies from the record in compliance with the dictates of <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 627 So. 2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993). <u>See</u> Attachment "A" including Record pages 1-984, 1238-42, 1251-52, and 1264-65.

(e.s., R. 632-633)

Moreover, because the trial court attached specific portions of the trial record <u>and</u> stated its rationale for denying postconviction relief based on the record, Peede is not entitled to

any relief under <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 571 So. 2d 449 (Fla. 1990).

Peede also faults the trial court's ruling for not incorporating the six additional claims filed in the amended motion The six additional claims raised in Peede's 1995 to vacate. amended motion included: Claim X (unconstitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing statute); Claim XIV (Florida Supreme Court failed to conduct a meaningful harmless error analysis); Claim XV (trial court failed to timely impose a written sentence of death); Claim XVI (admission of hearsay testimony at trial); Claim XIX (rules prohibiting Peede's lawyers from interviewing jurors violate equal protection)³; and Claim XXI (alleged lack of compliance with Chapter 119 public records requests). Although the State moved to strike the 1995 amended postconviction motion as an unauthorized amendment which was untimely filed, the trial court stated that it had "reviewed and considered Defendant's Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence." (R. 613-620; 1688). With the exception of the belated public records complaint, all of the "new" claims presented in the amended motion to vacate involved issues which could or should have been raised on direct appeal. Therefore, they were procedurally barred on postconviction review. Cherry v. State, 659 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1995); Van Poyck v. State,

³Peede's complaint that he is precluded from interviewing jurors is likewise not appropriate for a motion to vacate under Rule 3.850, since it does not attack the validity of the defendant's convictions or sentences. <u>Foster v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1981).

694 So.2d 686, 698-699 (Fla. 1997); Clark v. State, 690 So.2d 1280, 1282 (Fla. 1997). In Mills v. State, 684 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1996) this Court held that the trial court's specific finding that issues were procedurally barred was sufficient to support the trial court's summary dismissal of a defendant's postconviction motion. In Mills, this Court concluded that Roberts v. State, 678 So.2d 1232, 1236 (Fla. 1996), in which this Court found the failure to attach pertinent portions of the record to be reversible error, was distinguishable. In <u>Roberts</u>, the trial court not only failed to attach any portions of the record but also did not give any explanation for the basis of its ruling. However, in Mills, the trial court specifically found the issues raised by Mills "procedurally barred as representing matters which were or could have been raised previously for the reasons contained [in] the state's response." Therefore, this Court found no reversible error in the summary denial of postconviction relief. Mills, 684 So.2d 804. In the instant case, the trial court issued a at comprehensive written order and attached specific portions of the record supporting the summary denial of postconviction relief. Peede has not demonstrated any entitlement to relief based on the trial court's summary disposition of this case.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUMMARILY DENYING PEEDE'S MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF BASED ON ALLEGED NON-COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 119.

Peede alleges that the trial court erred in dismissing "many" of his claims without allowing him to amend his Rule 3.850 motion "after obtaining all public records." During the seven years which elapsed between the filing of his original postconviction motion and the amended motion, Peede did nothing to alert the trial court to any alleged non-compliance with purported Chapter 119 requests.

In 1995, Peede alleged, for the first time, that public records of various state agencies had not been received, or if received, were incomplete.⁴ However, during the next year, Peede did not file any motion to compel or submit any evidence of due diligence and timely public records requests under Chapter 119.

⁴ Peede identified seven state agencies by name and asserted that complete files and records from unidentified "other agencies" had not been provided. (R. 609-610). Although he did not provide the trial court with any documentation of his purported public records requests or responses, Peede asserted that the following agencies had not complied with alleged public records requests: the Office of the Attorney General, the Florida Department of Corrections, Union Correctional Institution, Florida State Prison, Orange County Jail, the Sheriff of Orange County, Florida Department of Law Enforcement, and the Office of the State Attorney. (R. 609-610).

According to the prosecutor, Peede's public records request of Union Correctional Institution was submitted after Peede filed his amended motion to vacate. (R. 23-24). In addition, although additional public records had been made available, CCR had yet to pick up the requested materials. (R. 24). In response, Peede's postconviction counsel cited budgetary constraints which prohibited CCR from obtaining copies of the records which admittedly had been made available. (R. 26)

Absent some minimal identification of a credible claim of error, Peede has failed to establish any reason to prolong this matter by remanding for public records litigation on this bare bones complaint.

As with every capital litigant, the Public Records Act remained continuously available to Peede during the pendency of his postconviction proceedings. Peede's 1995 public records complaint arose long after the cut-off date for any timely-filed 3.850 motion. See, Zeigler v. State, 632 So.2d 48, 50 (Fla. 1993). A criminal defendant must alert the trial court about any lack of public records compliance and demonstrate due diligence in seeking public records. In the instant case, Peede's bare bones allegation, made for the first time in 1995, failed to evidence due diligence on his part and lack of compliance with Chapter 119. In Buenoano v. State, 708 So.2d 941 (Fla. 1998), this Court, denying relief on a capital defendant's eleventh-hour public records complaints, explained

As the trial court recognized, this Court has extended the time period for filing a rule 3.850 motion so that capital postconviction defendants could amend initial rule 3.850 motions after all requested public records were furnished. See Ventura v. State, 673 So.2d 479 (Fla.1996); Walton v. Dugger, 634 So.2d 1059 (Fla.1993); Anderson v. State, 627 So.2d 1170 (Fla.1993); Muehleman v. Dugger, 623 So.2d 480 (Fla.1993); Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So.2d 541 (Fla.1990). However, each of the cases in which the Court remanded to allow for an amended rule 3.850 motion involved an initial timely rule 3.850 motion. Here, we are presented with Buenoano's third motion for postconviction relief, clearly filed outside the time limitation of rule 3.850(b). As

explained above, before Buenoano could be entitled to relief based on any claim she might raise as a result of her public records requests, in this otherwise procedurally barred motion, she must establish that the facts on which the claim is based were unknown to her or her attorney and could not have been ascertained by the use of due diligence. See Fla. R.Crim. Pro. 3.850(b)(1); Mills.

The Public Records Act has been available to Buenoano since her conviction; but most of the records she alleges were not disclosed prior to the filing of her latest rule 3.850 motion were not requested until January 1998, or later. Some of the records were requested in January 1997, but Buenoano did not seek to compel compliance with those requests until February 1998. Buenoano has not alleged that through the exercise of due diligence she could not have made these requests within the time limits of rule 3.850. Accordingly, she is precluded from asserting that the trial court should have addressed her public records requests prior to denying her third rule 3.850 motion. Cf. Zeigler v. State, 632 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1993) (finding that rule 3.850 bars as untimely a motion based on information obtained as a result of a chapter 119 public records request made after the cut-off date for postconviction relief), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 830 (1994); Agan v. State, 560 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1990) (same); Demps v. State, 515 So.2d 196 (Fla. 1987) (same).

Peede has not demonstrated due diligence in seeking available public records nor any timely request to amend his original postconviction motion. Thus, Peede's 1995 allegations were procedurally barred. On the facts of this case, no violation of Chapter 119 or this Court's case law concerning capital defendants' rights to public records has been demonstrated. Alternatively, should this Court determine that Peede is nevertheless entitled to relief, this should affirm the trial court's denial of postconviction relief and permit a limited remand.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUMMARILY DENYING PEEDE'S POSTCONVICTION CLAIM THAT HE WAS NOT COMPETENT TO STAND TRIAL.

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